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Located at:  28 W. State Street, 13th Floor, Trenton, New Jersey 

  June 22, 2010 
David W. Wolfe, Assemblyman  
10th Legislative District 
852 Highway 70 
Brick, NJ 08724  
 
 Re:   Advisory Opinion 01-2010 
          
Dear Assemblyman Wolfe: 

   
  The Commission considered your request for an advisory opinion at its meeting of June 15, 

2010, and directed me to issue this response.  You have asked whether or not it is a 
permissible use of campaign funds for your single candidate committee, the Friends of Wolfe 
for Assembly, to make reimbursement to you of travel costs incurred in connection with an 
unanticipated legislative schedule change.   

 
You seek reimbursement of round-trip airfare and one-way carfare costs which you incurred 
and paid in order to travel from a vacation, which you had planned prior to the change in the 
legislative calendar, to attend and vote at an additional legislative session.  The campaign has 
not paid for these costs at the time of this request. 
 

Question Presented 
 

Is the use of campaign funds to pay for travel expenses incurred by an officeholder in 
connection with an unanticipated legislative schedule change an “ordinary and necessary” 
use? The Commission has not previously considered the specific question concerning the 
proposed use of campaign funds.  

 
Commission Response 

 
     The Commission hereby advises you that the use of campaign funds to reimburse your travel  
  expenses incurred in connection with an unanticipated legislative schedule change is a  
  permissible use of funds.  
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          Submitted Facts 
 

You state that you had made vacation plans based upon a published schedule dated January 12, 
2010, issued from the Speaker’s office, of legislative committee meetings and voting sessions 
for January 2010 through April 2010.  Based upon the schedule indicating that the last 
scheduled voting session was March 15, 2010, you had made plans for a vacation of 
approximately one week with your wife,  beginning March 19, 2010 and lasting until March 25, 
2010.  
 
You further state that on March 8, 2010, a revised schedule of committee meetings and voting 
sessions was released, which included new voting sessions on March 22 and March 29, 2010.  
In order to attend the voting session on March 22, you made round trip arrangements to fly back 
to New Jersey from your vacation in New Mexico, and then to return to complete your vacation.  
In addition, you note that you are Deputy Republican leader and expected to be in attendance at 
the voting sessions. 
 
As supporting documentation, you have also submitted copies of the two legislative schedules, 
and copies of the electronic confirmation for the airfare and the receipt for the carfare. Your 
candidate committee has not paid for these expenditures at the time of your request, nor have 
you received reimbursement from any other source.  
      
         Applicable law 
  
The Reporting Act restricts a candidate committee in the use of its funds to six permissible uses, 
including the payment of ordinary and necessary expenses of holding public office.  N.J.S.A. 
19:44A-11.2a(6).  In its rulemaking, the Commission has defined “ordinary and necessary” as 
any expense that “reasonably promotes or carries out the responsibilities of a person holding 
elective public office.”   N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7(a).   
 
Pursuant to N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7(e)4,  “ordinary and necessary” expenses of holding public 
office, include costs of travel by means other than a vehicle  “when such travel is undertaken in 
connection with the performance of duties as an elected officeholder, provided that such travel 
is not undertaken for any purpose resulting in a personal or financial benefit to the candidate or 
officeholder.”   Other permissible uses as “ordinary and necessary” include the costs of 
registration and attendance at conferences and seminars attended in connection with 
officeholding duties, including the reasonable expense of travel.  N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7 (e)3.  
Pursuant to N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.8, a candidate committee may reimburse a candidate or 
officeholder for use of a vehicle owned by that candidate,  provided that the candidate or 
officeholder provides the committee with written documentation including the purpose of the 
use, which purpose must be for travel for campaign or officeholding duties.   

  
Finally, since the Reporting Act also prohibits payment of expenses for items or services which 
may reasonably be considered to be for the “personal use” of a candidate, the Commission has 
defined “personal use” by regulation to mean “any use of contributions to pay or fulfill a 
commitment, obligation or expense of any person that would arise or exist irrespective of the 
candidate’s campaign or irrespective of the candidate’s ordinary and necessary expense of 
holding public office.”  N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5(c). 
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The Commission has issued Advisory Opinions in accordance with the above regulations, or 
which provided a basis for the above regulations.  See Advisory Opinion 01-1994, wherein the 
Commission advised an officeholder that contributions received by a candidate may be used for 
reimbursement for use of a personal vehicle that the candidate owns, or is leasing; and Advisory 
Opinions 05-1999, 09-1994, and 06-1994, permitting the use of campaign funds to pay 
reasonable costs of travel for attendance at conferences in connection with officeholding duties. 

                         
       Discussion  
              

Based upon the information submitted, the officeholder made reasonable plans for a one-week 
vacation based upon a published schedule. The Commission does not believe that the 
officeholder could have reasonably foreseen that the schedule would change and require travel 
from a location other than from his home district, thereby resulting in additional cost.  Certainly 
the travel was undertaken in connection with his duties as an officeholder and for a necessary 
purpose, that is, to participate in a voting session as a member of the Legislature.  It was not 
undertaken for a purpose resulting in a personal or financial benefit but instead to fulfill his 
legislative duties.  The Commission therefore concludes that the proposed use of campaign 
funds under the facts and circumstances presented in this request is a permissible use as an 
ordinary and necessary expense of holding public office. 
 
The Commission recognizes that the approved result bears a certain potential for misuse.  
As the Commission first noted when it proposed the regulations described above, the 
Commission cannot anticipate all circumstances under which officeholders may wish to expend 
campaign funds, and therefore relies on officeholders to seek advisory opinions from the 
Commission as new or unanticipated circumstances arise.  26 N.J.R. 2754 (July 5, 1994).   

                                                    
Conclusion 

 
The Commission hereby advises you that the use of campaign funds as reimbursement of your 
travel expenses to attend a voting session under the described circumstances involving an 
unanticipated change in legislative schedule is permissible as an ordinary and necessary expense 
of holding public office. You should submit records to your campaign treasurer that document 
your expenditures.  Further, since the airfare expenditure was made using a credit card, the 
reporting should comply with the reporting requirements of  N.J.A.C. 19:25-12.4. 
  
The Commission thanks you for your inquiry and for your extension of time to answer.   
                
        Very truly yours, 
        Election Law Enforcement Commission 
         
         By: ___________________________ 
               Carol L. Hoekje, Esq.   
      
          

           
                 

 








